#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

# RECEIVED

## 06-03-2019

#### COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT IV

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. JAMIE A. COOGAN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Iowa County Case No. 2017CV000142 Appeal No. 2018AP002350

STEVEN P. MICHEK, SHERIFF, IOWA COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE,

Respondent-Respondent.

ON APPEAL OF A DECISION DENYING SUMMARY JUDGMENT AND AN ORDER DISMISSING THE WRIT, ENTERED IN THE IOWA COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE W. ANDREW SHARP, PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF PETITIONER-APPELLANT

#### JEREMIAH WOLFGANG MEYER-O'DAY Attorney at Law State Bar #1091114

#### Martinez & Ruby, LLP

#### STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. DOES THE SHERIFF'S CONSTITUTIONAL POWER AND DUTY TO HAVE THE CUSTODY AND CONTROL OF THE COUNTY JAIL AND THE PRISONERS THEREIN PRECLUDE THE LEGISLATURE FROM LIMITING THE CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A SHERIFF MAY DENY PRISONERS THE EXERCISE OF HUBER PRIVILEGES GRANTED TO THEM BY THEIR SENTENCING COURT?

The trial court answered: yes.

**II.** DOES THE GENERAL DUTY IMPOSED UPON THE SHERIFF TO "TAKE THE CHARGE AND

CUSTODY OF THE JAIL MAINTAINED BY THE COUNTY AND THE PERSONS IN THE JAIL, AND [TO] KEEP THE PERSONS IN THE JAIL PERSONALLY OR BY A DEPUTY OR JAILER" BY WIS. STAT. § 59.27(1) AND/OR THE OPERATION OF WIS. STAT. § 302.36 AND WIS. ADMIN. CODE CH. DOC § 350.21 CONSTITUTE A GRANT OF AUTHORITY TO THE SHERIFF TO RESTRICT OR DENY THE EXERCISE OF HUBER PRIVILEGES NOTWITHSTANDING THE RESTRICTIONS ON THE SHERIFF'S POWER TO DO SO CONTAINED IN WIS. STAT. § 303.08?

The circuit court answered: yes.

III. DOES THE SHERIFF HAVE A PLAIN DUTY TO RESTRICT OR DENY THE EXERCISE OF HUBER PRIVILEGES ONLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF WIS. STAT. § 303.08, AND CONVERSELY STATED, DOES A PERSON GRANTED HUBER PRIVILEGES HAVE Α CLEAR LEGAL RIGHT TO **RESTRICTION OR DENIAL OF THE EXERCISE** OF SUCH PRIVILEGES ONLY IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE PROVISIONS OF WIS. STAT. § 303.08, SUCH THAT MANDAMUS **RELIEF WILL LIE?** 

The circuit court answered: no.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT

Appellant believes that the issues raised in this appeal are issues of first impression in the State of Wisconsin, and as such, oral argument may be appropriate.

### STATEMENT ON PUBLICATION

Because the issues raised in this appeal are issues of first impression in the State of Wisconsin, and because they are issues of great public importance concerning the administration of justice, publication is warranted.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 19, 2017, Coogan was sentenced to serve one year in the Iowa County Jail following revocation of his probation in Iowa County Case No. 16 CF 54. (R20: 3, 9). In his judgment of conviction, Coogan was granted Huber release privileges pursuant to the court's authority to grant such privileges under Wis. Stat. § 303.08(2). (R20: 3, 9). On or around October 6, 2017, the jail reclassified Coogan to "maximum" housing status as a result of an alleged infraction of jail rules committed by Coogan, and Coogan was not reclassified to a housing status lower than "maximum" until November 26, 2017. (R20: 4, 9-10).

This was significant because at the time, the jail utilized its housing classification system not just for the purposes enumerated in Wis. Stat. § 302.36 and Wis. Admin. Code ch. DOC § 350.21, but also for purposes of determining whether a prisoner who was granted Huber privileges under Wis. Stat. § 303.08(2) in his or her judgment of conviction would be allowed to exercise their Huber privileges and if so, the amount of hours in any given day during which the prisoner would be allowed to exercise such privileges. (R21: 2, 5).

Specifically, inmates classified to "maximum" housing status are not allowed to exercise Huber privileges at all until such time as they are reclassified to something less than "maximum" housing status, and further, inmates classified to "medium" housing status are restricted to working no more than eight hours in any given day and no more than five days in any given week. (R21: 2). Coogan was accordingly completely denied Huber privileges from the period running from October 6, 2017 to November 26, 2017 on the basis of his classification to "maximum" housing status during that time period. (R20: 4, 9-10). The sheriff neither petitioned the court to revoke Coogan's Huber privileges during this time period under Wis. Stat. § 303.08(3) nor invoked the authority of Wis. Stat. § 303.08(10) to deny Coogan the exercise of his Huber privileges, but instead relied entirely upon the jail's inmate housing classification system which it is required to develop and implement pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 302.36 and Wis. Admin. Code ch. DOC § 350.21. (R20: 11-13).

On December 7, 2017, Coogan, through counsel, filed a petition for a writ of mandamus, alleging, *inter alia*, that the Iowa County Sheriff's Office and Iowa County Sheriff Steven P. Michek (hereinafter "Michek") violated a plain duty to restrict or deny Huber privileges only as permitted in the Huber statute, Wis. Stat. § 303.08, and requesting that the court issue a writ compelling Michek to refrain from denying or restricting the exercise of Huber privileges on the part of inmates granted such privileges in their judgments of conviction except as such denial or restriction would be allowable under Wis. Stat. § 303.08. (R1: 1-6).

On May 17, 2018, Coogan, again through counsel, filed a notice of motion and motion for partial summary judgment, again requesting mandamus relief compelling Michek to refrain from limiting or denying the exercise of Huber privileges except as permitted under Wis. Stat. § 303.08, and requesting that should the court determine that mandamus does not lie, that the court enter a judgment declaring that Michek may not restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges except as permitted by Wis. Stat. § 303.08. (R18: 5-6).

In his brief in support of his motion, Coogan argued, as is relevant to this appeal,<sup>1</sup> that neither Michek's constitutional powers as the sheriff nor any other authority allowed him to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges other than pursuant to the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 303.08, and as such, Michek's utilization of the inmate housing classification scheme to restrict or deny entirely the exercise of Huber privileges violated his plain duties to administer Huber privileges only in accordance with the dictates of Wis. Stat. § 303.08, entitling Coogan to either mandamus relief or in the alternative, a declaration that Michek may only restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges as permitted by the provisions

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Coogan also alleged and argued that the classification system utilized by Michek was not objective and therefore violated the requirements of Wis. Stat. § 302.36 and Wis. Admin. Code ch. DOC § 350.21. (R18: 1-6; R19: 30-32). Coogan additionally argued that Michek denied him due process of law when Michek refused to allow him the exercise of his Huber privileges on the basis of his housing classification. The circuit court's rulings on these issues are not being appealed and will therefore not be addressed by Coogan here.

of Wis. Stat. § 303.08. (R19: 6-30).

Michek responded to Coogan's motion for summary judgment by arguing that (1) the sheriff's inherent constitutional authority and duty to maintain the custody and control of the prisoners in the county jail and (2) the sheriff's statutory power and duty to do the same under Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) superseded any restrictions on the sheriff's authority to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges contained within Wis. Stat. § 303.08, and further, that this result was mandated by the concept of separation of powers. (R25: 7-12).

On October 15, 2018, the circuit court, the Honorable W. Andrew Sharp presiding, entered a memorandum decision and order denying Coogan's motion for summary judgment and granting Michek dismissal of the petition and writ. (R32: 8). In its ruling, the circuit court first determined that Coogan was not entitled to mandamus relief because "the management of prisoners and their release on Huber are acts where the Sheriff is expected to exercise his discretion and sound judgment." (R32: 4). As to the issue of whether Coogan would nonetheless be entitled to a declaratory judgment requiring Michek to restrict or deny Huber only in accordance with the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 303.08, the court made all of the following rulings: (1) the sheriff's constitutional duty and power to maintain the custody of the jail and the prisoners therein superseded any limitations the legislature may have placed on the sheriff's ability to deny or restrict the exercise of Huber privileges, (R32: 4-5); (2) Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) grants the sheriff the statutory authority to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges notwithstanding any restrictions on such authority imposed by Wis. Stat. § 303.08, (R32: 5); and (3) the doctrine of separation of powers precludes a circuit court from acting to enforce the grant of Huber privileges in its judgment of conviction as against the county sheriff. (R32: 5-6).

Coogan, through counsel, filed a timely notice of appeal on November 30, 2018, challenging the circuit court's rulings enumerated above; the present appeal follows. (R33: 1-2).

#### ARGUMENT

I. **NEITHER THE SHERIFF'S CONSTITUTIONAL** POWER AND DUTY TO HAVE THE CUSTODY AND CONTROL OF THE COUNTY JAIL AND THE **PRISONERS THEREIN** NOR THE SHERIFF'S STATUTORY POWER AND DUTY TO THE SAME EFFECT PRECLUDES THE LEGISLATURE FROM LIMITING THE **CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER WHICH A SHERIFF** MAY DENY PRISONERS THE EXERCISE OF **HUBER PRIVILEGES GRANTED TO THEM BY** THEIR SENTENCING COURT, NOR DOES THE **DOCTRINE OF THE SEPARATION OF POWERS** PRECLUDE Α CIRCUIT COURT FROM **ACTING TO ENFORCE ITS GRANT OF HUBER** PRIVILEGES AS AGAINST THE SHERIFF, AND IN FACT THE COMMON LAW DUTY OF THE SHERIFF TO EXECUTE ALL LAWFUL COURT **ORDERS COMPELS THE OPPOSITE RESULT.** 

#### A. Summary of Arguments and Standard of Review

Contrary to the circuit court's rulings, the only powers and duties of the sheriff which may not be abridged, restricted, or modified by the legislature or a court are those powers and duties which "gave character and distinction" to the office of sheriff at common law." Manitowoc County v. Local 986B, 168 Wis. 2d 819, 826, 484 N.W.2d 534 (1992). At common law, the sheriff did not have any discretion to release persons committed to the jail even temporarily for any purpose, and as such, the administration of Huber release privileges, which are themselves a creature of modern statute unknown to the common law at the time of the ratification of the Wisconsin Constitution, does not implicate any of the powers and duties of the sheriff which gave that office character and distinction at common law. Accordingly, the legislature may limit or restrict the sheriff's authority to deny or restrict the exercise of Huber privileges once such privileges are properly granted by a sentencing court.

Similarly, nothing in Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) authorizes the sheriff to deny or restrict the exercise of Huber release privileges, for much the same reason that the sheriff's constitutional power and duty to take custody of the county jail and the prisoners therein does not authorize the sheriff to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges other than in accordance with the dictates of Wis. Stat. § 303.08. In fact, the sheriff has a constitutional and statutory duty to faithfully execute the orders of the circuit court, including judgments of conviction requiring that the prisoner convicted by allowed to exercise Huber privileges granted therein, and at common law, contrary to the circuit court's ruling regarding the separation of powers issue, courts were affirmatively empowered to enforce their orders committing persons to the jail as against the sheriff. See 2 Walter H. Anderson et al., A Treatise on the Law of Sheriffs, Coroners, and Constables § 623, at 591-92 (1941) (hereinafter Anderson on Sheriffs) ("If a term of imprisonment in the penitentiary is imposed, then, of course, it is the duty of the sheriff to carry out the judgment insofar as he is directed to do so . . . [i]n short, it is the duty of the officer to carry out whatever judgment is rendered in a criminal case; see also 1 Anderson on Sheriffs § 250, at 259 ("Failure to retain and keep the prisoner, as in the commitment directed, is contempt of court. After a person is committed to prison, the gaoler has no discretion except to carry out the mandates of the commitment") and Wis. Stat. § 59.27(4) (stating that the sheriff shall "serve or execute all processes, writs, precepts and orders issued or made by lawful authority and delivered to the sheriff.").

Finally, because the sheriff has an absolute duty, both constitutionally and under statute, to execute all orders of the circuit court, the doctrine of separation of powers does not preclude the circuit court from acting to enforce its orders, including a grant of Huber privileges in a jail prisoner's judgment of conviction. It therefore follows that the circuit court erred when it determined that the sheriff does not have a plain duty to refrain from restricting or denying the exercise of Huber privileges granted in a person's judgment of conviction other than as authorized by the Huber law and/or the sentencing court, and as such, the circuit court also erred when it determined that Coogan did not have a clear legal right to be denied or restricted in the exercise of His Huber privileges only in accordance with the provisions of Wis. Stat. § 303.08.

It is well established that this court applies the same summary judgment methodology as that employed by the circuit court. [This court] first examine[s] the complaint to determine whether it states a claim, and then review[s] the answer to determine whether it presents a material issue of fact or law. If [this court] conclude[s] that the complaint and answer are sufficient to join issue, [this court] examine[s] the moving party's affidavits to determine whether they establish a prima facie case for summary judgment. If they do, [this court] look[s] to the opposing party's affidavits to determine whether there are any material facts in dispute which entitle the opposing party to a trial.

*State v. Dunn*, 213 Wis. 2d 363, 368, 570 N.W.2d 614 (Ct. App. 1997) (internal citations omitted; brackets added).

In the context of a petition for a writ of mandamus, "It is well-recognized that mandamus will not lie unless the following requirements are met: (1) a clear legal right; (2) a plain and positive duty; (3) substantial damages or injury should the relief not be granted, and (4) no other adequate remedy at law." *State ex rel. S.M.O.*, 110 Wis. 2d 447, 449, 329 N.W.2d 275 (Ct. App. 1982).

Regarding the analysis of the constitutional powers and duties of a county sheriff in Wisconsin, "It is the nature of the job [in question] . . . which must be analyzed in light of the sheriff's constitutional powers." Wisconsin Prof'l Police Ass'n v. Dane County, 149 Wis. 2d 699, 710, 439 N.W.2d 625 (Ct. App. 1989) (WPPA II) (ellipses in original; quoting Wisconsin Prof'l Police Ass'n v. County of Dane, 106 Wis. 2d 303, 312, 316 N.W.2d 656 (1982) (WPPA I)). "If the duty is one of those immemorial principal and important duties that characterized and distinguished the office of sheriff at common law, the sheriff 'chooses his own ways and means of performing it." Id. (quoting WPPA I, 106 Wis. 2d at 314). On the other hand, if the duties at issue are "mundane and commonplace" or consist of "internal management and administrative duties, even if they are ever-present aspects of the constitutional office," such duties "are not accorded constitutional status." Kocken v. Wis. Council, 2007 WI 72, ¶42, 301 Wis.2d 266, 732 N.W.2d 828.

In short, caselaw "establish[es] the following criteria for

identifying a sheriff's constitutional powers, rights, and duties: certain immemorial, principal, and important duties of the sheriff at common law that are peculiar to the office of sheriff and that characterize and distinguish the office are constitutionally protected from legislative interference." *Id.* at ¶39. (brackets added) "Nevertheless, the constitution does not prohibit all legislative change in the powers, duties, functions, and liabilities of a sheriff as they existed at common law. [I]internal management and administrative duties . . . [that] neither gave `character' nor `distinction' to the office of sheriff . . . fall within the mundane and common administrative duties of a sheriff which may be regulated by the legislature." *Id.* at ¶40 (internal citations and quotation marks omitted; brackets and ellipses in original).

The construction and application of statutes represents an issue of law which this court reviews independently of the circuit court, but benefiting from its analysis. *State v. Popenhagen*, 2008 WI 55, ¶32, 309 Wis.2d 601, 749 N.W.2d 611. Similarly, interpretation and application of constitutional provisions is a question of law which this court reviews *de novo*. *State v. Anderson*, 2006 WI 77, ¶66, 291 Wis.2d 673, 717 N.W.2d 74.

> B. The sheriff's constitutional power and duty to maintain the custody and care of the jail and the persons imprisoned therein does not preclude the legislature from limiting the circumstances under which the sheriff may permissibly deny or restrict the exercise of Huber privileges by those prisoners granted such privileges by the circuit court, and as such, no separation of powers issue arises.

The office of county sheriff, as is noted above, is invested by the constitution with certain powers and duties which cannot be removed by statute or administrative rule. **WPPA I.**, 106 Wis. 2d at 305 (stating that "[w]e conclude that under the Wisconsin Constitution the sheriff has the power and prerogatives which that office had under the common law[,]" and that "[t]hese powers may not be limited by a collective bargaining agreement entered into by the county and a labor union representing deputy sheriffs.") (brackets added). As is relevant in the present case, "one of the most characteristic and well acknowledged [of the traditional common law powers and duties of the office of county sheriff] was the custody of the common jail and of the prisoners therein." *State ex rel. Kennedy v. Brunst*, 26 Wis. 412, 414 (1870).

That said, there existed no such thing as Huber release privileges under the common law; indeed, the Huber law was not enacted in Wisconsin until 1913. See L.1913 c. 625; see also Wis. Stat. § 56.08 (1947-48), Comment of Interim Committee 1947 (noting that what is commonly known as the Huber law was first enacted by ch. 625, Laws of 1913). Prior to 1913, a sentence to jail confinement was to either "hard labor" or "actual confinement" (and in fact "hard labor" was the default option absent a judicial pronouncement to the contrary requiring actual confinement) without any option to continue work for an existing employer of the inmate available to said inmate. Compare Wis. Stat. § 697c (1911-12) (stating that "whenever any male person over sixteen years of age shall be convicted within such county of any offense of which a justice of the peace under general law has jurisdiction to hear, try and determine he shall be punished by imprisonment in the workhouse at hard manual labor, and the commitment shall be to such workhouse at hard manual labor" and making no provision for non-county employment of prisoners) with Wis. Stat. § 697c (1913-14) (requiring the sheriff to make contracts for the gainful employment of jail prisoners and providing for collection of earnings from employment and distribution of same to various payees).

Accordingly, release of inmates pursuant to the Huber law, and the rules and regulations governing such privileges, does not fall within the class of powers and duties that were inherent in and characteristic of the office of sheriff at common law. *See WPPA I*, 106 Wis.2d at 311 (holding that the inherent powers of the sheriff are limited "to those immemorial principal and important duties that characterized and distinguished the office.") (quoting *State ex rel. Milwaukee County v. Buech*, 171 Wis. 474, 481-82, 177 N.W. 781 (1920)).

This proposition is amply supported by the following

admonition from the Supreme Court of Wisconsin in its opinion in *Buech*:

It should not be held, in our judgment, that the constitution prohibits any legislative change in the powers, duties, functions, and liabilities of a sheriff as they existed at common law. If that were true, a constitutional amendment would be necessary in order to change the duties of sheriffs in the slightest degree and, in this respect, the state would be stretched on a bed of Procrustes.

141 Wis.2d at 482. "It is the nature of the job assigned rather than the general power of job assignment which must be analyzed in light of the sheriff's constitutional powers." *WPPA I*, 106 Wis.2d at 312. Ultimately, it is only those powers and duties which give character and distinction to the office of the sheriff which are constitutionally protected. *Heitkemper v. Wirsing*, 194 Wis. 2d 182, 191-92, 533 N.W.2d 770 (1995).

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