# COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN DISTRICT IV 09-27-2019

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

STATE OF WISCONSIN EX REL. JAMIE A COOGAN,

Petitioner-Appellant,

v.

Appeal No. 2018AP002350

STEVEN P. MICHEK, SHERIFF, IOWA COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE,

Respondent-Respondent.

Appeal from Circuit Court for Iowa County The Honorable W. Andrew Sharp, Presiding, Case No. 2017CV000142

RESPONDENTS' SHERIFF STEVEN P. MICHEK AND IOWA COUNTY SHERIFF'S OFFICE RESPONSE BRIEF

William S. Cole (1011623)
Axley Brynelson, LLP
2 E. Mifflin St., Ste. 200
Madison, WI 53703
(608) 283-6766
wcole@axley.com

Attorneys for Respondent-Respondent Steven P. Michek, Sheriff and Iowa County Sheriff's Office

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

#### **ARGUMENT**

At the outset, the Respondents, Sheriff Micheck and the Iowa County Sheriff's Office, raised the issue of mootness with the circuit court. (R. 25 at 3.) Appellant Coogan has completed his sentence, and therefore, has been released from jail. (R. 32 at 4.) The circuit court noted this fact, but declined to rule on the issue of mootness, finding other grounds to deny Appellant Coogan's request for mandamus relief. (*Id.*) However, it remains clear that Appellant Coogan's action is moot, as he is no longer in the custody of the Iowa County Sheriff's Office or Sheriff Micheck, so he is unable to satisfy the third element of mandamus, which is substantial damages should relief not be granted. *In re State ex rel. S.M.O.*, 110 Wis. 2d at 449.

Notwithstanding the issue of mootness, Appellant Coogan argues that Sheriff Michek did not have any constitutional power or other statutory authority to restrict or deny him the exercise of Huber privileges other than those powers specifically set forth in Wis. Stat. § 303.08, and therefore, he argues that he is entitled to either mandamus relief or a declaration that

Sheriff Michek may only restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges as set forth in Wis. Stat. § 303.08.

In response to these arguments, the circuit court correctly ruled that (1) a sheriff's constitutional duty and power to maintain the custody of the jail and the prisoners therein superseded any limitations the legislature may have placed on a sheriff's ability to deny or restrict the exercise of Huber privileges; (2) Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) grants the sheriff statutory authority to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges notwithstanding any restrictions on such authority imposed by Wis. Stat. § 303.08; and (3) the doctrine of separation of powers precludes a circuit court from acting to enforce the grant of Huber privileges in its judgment of conviction as against a county sheriff. (R. 32 at 4-7.)

It follows that Appellant Coogan's request for mandamus should be denied as a matter of law because he fails to satisfy the first two requirements for relief, as set forth above. First, Appellant Coogan fails to establish that he has a clear legal right to exercise Huber privileges in contravention of the custody status assigned under the objective inmate classification system used by Sheriff Michek. Second, Appellant Coogan fails to show that Sheriff

Michek has a plain and positive duty to allow him to exercise Huber privileges without deference to his objective inmate classification.

For these reasons and the reasons set forth below, this Court should affirm the decision of the Iowa County circuit court denying Appellant Coogan's motion for partial summary judgment, his alternative request for declaratory judgment, and granting Sheriff Michek's motion to dismiss the petition and writ.

## I. Appellant Coogan's Action is Moot.

As noted above, while the primary focus in the circuit court was the legal rights and duties of the parties, Respondents Sheriff Micheck and the Iowa County Sheriff's Office also raised the issue of Appellant Coogan's failure to satisfy the third requirement for mandamus (substantial damages or injury should the relief not be granted) as he is no longer incarcerated. (R. 25 at 3; see also In re State ex rel. S.M.O., 110 Wis. 2d at 449.) Respondents pointed out that Appellant Coogan's request for mandamus relief could be properly denied on this ground as well. (R. 25 at 3.) The circuit court took note of this, but did not base its decision on these grounds. (R. 32 at 4.) However, Appellant Coogan's action is moot, as he is no longer in the custody of the Iowa County Sheriff's Office or Sheriff Micheck, so he is

unable to satisfy the third element of mandamus. *In re State ex rel. S.M.O.*, 110 Wis. 2d at 449.

II. A Sheriff has the Constitutional and Statutory Power to Restrict or Deny the Exercise of Huber Privileges to Otherwise Eligible Inmates in Order to Comply with his Constitutional and Statutory Obligation to Maintain Custody and Control of the County Jail and the Prisoners Therein.

A sheriff has the constitutional and statutory authority and duty to maintain the custody and control of the prisoners in a county jail. Consistent with this duty, a sheriff has the constitutional and statutory power to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges to otherwise eligible inmates. Appellant Coogan incorrectly contends the Sheriff only has statutory authority – not constitutional authority – insofar as Huber privileges are concerned and offers a constrained view of that statutory authority. Specifically, Appellant Coogan asserts the Sheriff has no inherent constitutional power to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges to otherwise eligible inmates and must allow the exercise of Huber privileges granted by a court without regard to an inmate's classification status.

Appellant Coogan's legal theories and statutory and constitutional interpretations are strained and simply incorrect. This is evidenced by his reliance on obscure legislative history. In fact, the operation of the jail is the

primary duty of the sheriff that gives "character and distinction to the office" and thus is within the "constitutional prerogative" of the sheriff and is distinct from other mundane and commonplace managerial duties that are not constitutionally protected. *Kocken v. Wisconsin*, 2007 WI 72, ¶¶ 44, 75, 301 Wis. 2d 266, 732 N.W.2d 828. Further, a sheriff's statutory power and duty to do the same under Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) supersedes any restrictions on a sheriff's authority to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges contained within Wis. Stat. § 303.08. This result was mandated by the concept of separation of powers.

At the outset, Appellant Coogan does not argue that those duties which give "character and distinction to the office" of sheriff are not constitutionally protected duties. *Kocken.* 2007 WI 72, ¶¶ 44, 75. (App. Br. at 17 (citing *Heitkemper v. Wirsing*, 194 Wis. 2d 182, 191-92, 533 N.W.2d 770 (1995)). Rather, Appellant Coogan employs a strained application of this standard to reach an illogical conclusion. It follows that the circuit court rejected Appellant Coogan's "narrowly sliced up" view of a sheriff's

constitutional powers. (R. 32 at 5.) Instead, the circuit court recognized the constitutional grant of power to the sheriff is broad, not narrow. (*Id.*)

Yet, Appellant Coogan argues a sheriff does not have the inherent constitutional power to restrict or deny Huber privileges because Huber release did not exist under common law, as it was not enacted in Wisconsin until 1913. (App. Br. at 15.) Appellant Coogan goes on to make the inferential leap that because a treatise states "[a sheriff] may not lawfully permit the prisoner to leave the jail and return thereto at his pleasure," that it follows a sheriff has no authority to restrict or deny the exercise of Huber privileges. (App. Br. at 17 (citing Water H. Anderson et al., A Treatise on the Law of Sheriffs, Coroners, and Constables (1941)).) It is beyond illogical for Appellant Coogan to draw such a parallel. All that can be drawn from Appellant Coogan's citation to this treatise is that the sheriff cannot arbitrarily allow a prisoner to come and go "at his pleasure," which should go without saying. It certainly does not follow that a sheriff cannot restrict a prisoner's Huber privileges as part of his or her charge to provide for the care and custody of the jail.

Appellant Coogan's position is without merit and the authority upon which he relies ultimately refutes, rather than supports, his strained argument

that the sheriff lacks constitutional power to restrict or deny Huber privileges. For example, as the circuit court aptly pointed out, Appellant Coogan ultimately *concedes* the sheriff has the common law power *and duty* to provide for the care and custody of the jail and the prisoners therein. (App. Br. at 15 and R. 32 at 4 (citing *State ex. rel. Kennedy v. Brunst*, 26 Wis. 412, 414 (1870)).) Simply put, a sheriff has charge of the prisoners and that gives him or her authority to supervise a prisoner's ability to exercise the "privilege" of the Huber program. (R. 32 at 5.)

Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) codified this broad power, which provides for the sheriff to "take the charge and custody of the jail maintained by the county and the persons in the jail." In sum, the sheriff has charge of the prisoners, which gives him the authority to supervise their release under the Huber program or otherwise. The sheriff is under no duty to allow the exercise of Huber privileges granted by a sentencing court without regard for inmate custody classification status because the sheriff has both a constitutional and statutory *obligation* to maintain custody of the jail and its inmates.

Despite this broad constitutional and statutory grant of authority to provide for the care and custody of the jail and the prisoners therein, Appellant Coogan contends Sheriff Michek has a duty to allow the exercise of Huber privileges granted by a court without regard to an inmate's classification status. Consideration of whether the sheriff has a "plain and positive" duty to Coogan to exercise the privilege of Huber granted by the sentencing court without regard for his inmate custody classification status necessitates a separation of powers analysis, under which it is apparent that the sheriff owes Appellant Coogan no such duty.

This [separation of powers] doctrine, while not explicitly set forth in the Wisconsin Constitution, is implicit in the division of governmental powers among the judicial, legislative, and executive branches. The constitutional powers of each branch fall into two categories: exclusive and shared powers. No branch may intrude on the exclusive powers of another. Shared powers lie at the intersections of these core constitutional powers and are not confined to any one branch. The branches may exercise power within these intersections, but may not unduly burden or substantially interfere with another branch.

State v. Schell, 2003 WI App 78, ¶ 14, 261 Wis. 2d 841, 661 N.W.2d 503 (internal citations omitted). To conduct a separation of powers analysis, one must first identify the sources of authority for the judiciary and the sheriff. The circuit courts of Wisconsin are constitutional courts that are not dependent solely upon statute for their power; rather, their power is derived from the Wisconsin Constitution, which grants, "Except as otherwise provided by law, the circuit court shall have original jurisdiction in all matters civil and criminal within this state." In re the Guardianship of

Eberhardy, 102 Wis. 2d 539, 307 N.W.2d 881 (1981); Wisconsin Constitution, Art. VII. § 8.

The office of sheriff also is constitutionally created, but the sheriff's powers are not specifically delineated in the Constitution. Wisconsin Constitution, Art. VI. § 4; see also Wisconsin Prof'l Police Ass'n ("WPPA") v. Dane Cty., 106 Wis. 2d 303, 309-10, 316 N.W.2d 656 (1982). Rather, it is case law that has defined those powers, rights, and duties of the office of sheriff, which are protected by the state constitution. WPPA, 106 Wis. 2d. at 310.

In 1870, the court "concluded that the framers of the constitution intended the office of sheriff to have 'those generally recognized legal duties and functions belonging to it in this country, and in the territory, when the constitution was adopted." *Kocken*, 2007 WI 72, ¶ 34 (quoting *Brunst*, 26 Wis. at 414). Included among those duties, "one of the most characteristic and well acknowledged was the custody of the common jail and of the

prisoners therein," and the court therefore held that the legislature could not transfer that function to another office. *Brunst*, 26 Wis. at 414.

This custodial authority has been further entrenched in legislation, as Wis. Stat. § 59.27, which directs that the sheriff of a county shall do all of the following:

- (1) Take the charge and custody of the jail maintained by the county and the persons in the jail, and keep the persons in the jail personally or by a deputy or jailer.
- (4) Personally, or by the undersheriff or deputies, serve or execute all processes, writs, precepts and orders issued or made by lawful authority and delivered to the sheriff.

(7) Perform all other duties required of the sheriff by law.

Wis. Stat. § 59.27.

Since the *Brunst* decision, "[c] ase law and the opinions of the attorney general have continued to recognize that the operation of the jail is a primary duty of the office of sheriff that 'gave character and distinction to the office' at common law and thus is within the constitutional prerogative of the sheriff." *Kocken*, 2007 WI 72 at ¶ 44. This constitutionally protected, "immemorial and distinctive" duty of custody over prisoners is readily distinguishable from "mundane and commonplace, internal management and

administrative" duties of the sheriff that are not constitutionally protected (e.g., hiring and firing of food service personnel, *Kocken*, 2007 WI 72, ¶75, and appointment and dismissal of deputies, *State ex rel. Milwaukee County* v. Buech, 171 Wis. 474 (1920)). In sum, determining the custody status of inmates is not a mundane duty — it goes to the heart of the sheriff's constitutional (and statutory) obligation to take charge and custody of the jail and its inmates.

In *Schell*, the Wisconsin Court of Appeals held that by precluding the sheriff from releasing an inmate on home monitoring as authorized by Wis. Stat § 302.425, the trial court had substantially interfered with the sheriff's authority under Wis. Stat. § 59.27(1) to manage the county jail. 2003 WI App 78, ¶ 16. The court further justified this holding through considerations of public policy:

The decision to place a person on home monitoring is no doubt informed by the particular safety, budgetary and space constraints of each sheriffs office and county jail. The sheriff, perhaps more than any other person, is in the best position to undertake these analyses. The legislature has determined that the judiciary is best situated to determine whether and how to place a person on probation. It is not similarly well suited to oversee the various decisions attendant to the execution of a county jail term. The legislature has left county jail oversight to the sheriff, and the trial court's decision to prevent home monitoring when jail time is ordered as a probation condition interferes with those responsibilities.

*Id.* ¶ 19.

Similarly, while the legislature has determined the judiciary is best suited to determine eligibility to exercise Huber privileges under Wis. Stat. 303.08(2), the judiciary is not well suited to oversee the various decisions attendant to the execution of that privilege. Instead, the legislature has prescribed certain requirements for objective inmate classification by the sheriff and jail that are intended to provide for the protection of prisoners, staff, and the general public in the course of incarceration:

Wis. Stat. 302.36 Classification of prisoners. The sheriff, jailer, or keeper of a jail shall establish a prisoner classification system to determine prisoner housing assignments, how to supervise and provide services and programs to a prisoner, and what services and programs to provide to a prisoner. The prisoner classification system shall be based on objective criteria, including a prisoner's criminal offense record and gender, information relating to the current offense for which the prisoner is in jail, the prisoner's history of behavior in the jail, the prisoner's medical and mental health condition, and any other factor the sheriff, jailer, or keeper of a jail considers necessary to provide for the protection of prisoners, staff, and the general public.

Wis. Admin. Code DOC § 350.21 Inmate Classification. All jails shall meet the requirements set forth in s. 302.36, Stats. The sheriff shall establish and maintain an objective prisoner classification system to determine prisoner custody status and housing assignment, and develop eligibility criteria for prisoner participation in available work assignments, programs, and community service projects. The jail shall have policies and procedures relating to classification, including the following components:

- (1) Description of the objective prisoner classification system, including the identification and training of staff authorized to classify prisoners, initial classification and reclassification procedures, and prisoner appeal process.
- (2) Eligibility criteria for prisoner participation in available work assignments, programs, and community service projects.
- (3) Review of prisoner classification decisions.

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